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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

DOUGLAS J. HORN, et al.

Plaintiffs,
Case #15-CV-701FPG

DECISION AND ORDER

MEDICAL MARIJUANA, INC., et al.,

Defendant.

INTRODUCTION

Presently before the Court are the parties’ emetions for reconsideration of the Court’s
April 17, 2019 Decision and Order, which resolved the parties’ motions for summary judgment
For the reasons théollow, Defendants’ motions for reconsideration (ECF Nos. 97, 106) are
GRANTED IN PART and DENIED IN PART, and Plaintiffs’ creesotion for reconsideration
(ECF No. 112) is DENIED.

LEGAL STANDARD

Both sides cite Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b) as the basis for ti@mns Rule
54(b) provides:

[A] ny order or other decision, however designated, that adjudicates fewer than all

the claims or the rights and liabilities of fewer than all the parties does not end the

action as to any of the claims or parties and may be revised at any time before t

entry of a judgment adjudicating all the claims and all the parties’ rights and
liabilities.

! Plaintiffs initially filed a notice of appeal after the Courtisg its Decision and OrdeBeeECF No. 92.
That appeal has since been dismissed, and the Second Cswed iss mandate on November 12, 2019.
SeeHorn v. Medical Marijuana, In¢.No.19-1437 ECF No. 45 (dated Nov. 12, 2018ge also Bedasie v.
Mr. Z Towing, Inc. No. 13CV-5453, 2017 WL 6816331, at *3 (E.D.N.Y. Dec. 21, 2017) (stating that
jurisdiction returns to the district court after appeal once a marglstsued).
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“A district court has the inherent power to reconsider and modify its interlocoitdeys prior to
the entry of judgment . .” United States v. LORuss805 F.2d 45, 53 (2d Cir. 1982).

A litigant seeking reconsideration must set forth “controlling decisions ortdatahe
court overlooked-matters, in other words, that might reasonably be expected to alter the
conclusion reached by the courRichard v. Digneanl26 F. Supp. 3d 334, 337 (W.D.N.Y. 2015)
see alsaMicolo v. Fuller, No. 6:15CV-06374, 2017 WL 2297026, at *2 (W.D.N.Y. May 25,
2017) (“To merit reconsideration under Rule 54(b), a party must show ‘an intervenirgg afan
controlling law, the availability of new evidence,tbe need to correct a clear error or prevent a
manifest injustice.™)

BACKGROUND

In their motions, both sides take issue with the Court’s ruling on whether “DixiewX De
Drops”—the product at issweconstitutel a controlled substance under the federal @det
Substances Act (“CSA”)SeeECF Na 97-3 at 4; ECF No. 113 at 3. Some background may be
helpful.

Dixie X is a CBD oil. ‘CBD is short for‘cannabidiol,” and it is one of theunique
molecules found in theCannabis sativglant.” Horn v. Med. Marijuana, In¢.383 F. Supp. 3d
114,119 (W.D.N.Y. 2019) (internal citation omittedheCannabis sativlantis the plant from
which marijuana and hemp are deriveld. The difference between the two is thdtrug-use
cannabis is produced from the flowers and leaves of certain strains of the plaaindingtrial
use[hemp] is typically produced from the stalks and seeds of other strains of thé jpdanthis
leads to differences in the concentrationtetrahydrocannabinol THC”) in each variety. THC

is “the substance that gives marijuana its psychoactive properiies.”



In 2012,the time of the relevant eventee general rule was that all parts and derresat
of theCannabis sativplantweredefined as “marijuana” and prohibited under the GS3ee dl.
at 123 (citing 21 U.S.C. 88 802(16), 841(a)(1)). Despite its low THC content and lack of
psychoactive effectthe industrial hemp plareind any derivativesell within this definition
because hemfis a variety of th&€Cannabis sativalant” Id.; United States v. White Plum&t7
F.3d 1067, 1073 (B Cir. 2006) (noting that “the CSA does not distinguish between marijuana and
hemp”).

But the CSA carve out several exceptions to tigeneral rule Specifically,”[e]xcluded
from the definition of marijuana were certain parts of the plant that are bleagfagermination:
(1) the mature stalks of th@annabis sativgplant, (2) fiber prduced from the stalks of the
Cannabis sativglant, (3) oil or cake made from the seeds ofGa@nabis sativglant, (4) any
compound, manufacture, salt, derivative, mixture, or preparation of the mature gialksilf or
cakd], and (5) the steriled seed of th€annabis sativaglant” Horn, 383 F. Supp. 3d at 123.
Importantly, however, resin extracted from mature hemp stalks was not excepted from the
definition of marijuand Id.; see alsa21 U.S.C. § 802(16) (2012)As a result, hempased
products coulanly be lawfully manufactured and sold in the United States to the extent they were
derived from excepted parts of tBannabis sativlant (and thus were not considered marijuana
under the CSA).

But there was anber wrinkle: the CSA also separately prorediTHC, see21 U.S.C. §
812(c)(17), and many hemp-based products contain “trace amounts of HeG\) Indus. Ass’'n

v. Drug Enforcement Admin333 F.3d 1082, 1083th Cir. 2003) [hereinaftertiemp . This

2The CSA has since been amended to legalize industrial hemp produstiertorn 383 F. Supp. 3d at
124 (discussing legislative history).



raised a question: were products made from excepted parts dfameabis sativaplant
nonetheless unlawful because they contained minisculepsyaioactiveamounts of THC?

In a pair of cases from the early 2000 Ninth Circuit answered that question in the
negative.See Hemp, B33 F.3d at 108M0; Hemp Indus. Ass’'n v. Drug Enforcement Adn867
F.3d 1012 (¢h Cir. 2004) [hereinafterMemp IT]. First, it held thathe prohibition against THC
referred to synthetiqot naturally occurring, THC.SeeHemp | 333 F.3d at 108®0; Hemp 1|
357 F.3d at 1017. Second, it held that prododefrom excepted parts of th@annabis sativa
plant “were not included in the definition of marijuarand therefore were not unlawful under
the CSA—even ithey contained trace amountqméditurally occurring[THC.” Horn, 383 F. Supp.
3d at 123. The Ninth Circuit reviewed the legislative history and concludedXbatifessknew
what it was doingwhen it chose to exempt certain derivatives from the definition of marijuana
notwithstanding the presence of trace amounts of TH@..at 124.

Based on these conclusions, the Ninth Circuit invalidated DEW regulationsto the
extentthey purported to ban hempased products that contathtrace amounts ohaturally
occurringTHC. See Hemp JI357 F.3d at 10289. But products containing synthetic THC or
marijuanawerestill prohibited under the CSASee Horn383 F. Supp. 3d at 124.

This Court relied on the above authority to conclude that, in Z&& X was a controlled
substance.See Horn383 F. Supp. 3d at 124. Given the apparent absence of dispute, the Court
proceeded on the assumption that Dixie X's CBD byproduct itotest a resin extracted from the
mature stalk.See idat 124. This led the Court to conclude that Plaintiffs had a sufficient claim
under theRacketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (“RIC@S8)a RICO claim may

be predicated on the distribution and sale of a controlled substemoegarijuana Id. at 131-32.



DISCUSSION

Both sides now move for reconsideratioh this aspect of the Court’s prior order
Defendantsargue that the Court erred insofar aassumedhat Dixie X contained “resin extract
derived from theCannabis sativglant” and thus constituted marijuana. ECF No.19at 5;see
alsoECF Na 106. Defendantglispute that fact and contetitere is no evidence in the recadod
support that conclusion.

Plaintiffs, on the other hand, dispute the Court’s reasoning but not its conclUgies.
contend that “any product that contains anyouniof THC was a Schedule | controlled substance
in 2012.” ECF No. 112-3 at 3.

The Court takes up &htiffs’ argument first andejects it Plaintiffs asserthat Dixie X
wasa controlled substance because it comi@dirHC, whichwasa Schedule | controlled substance
in 2012 See2l1 C.F.R. § 1308.11(d)(31). They also assert that Dixie X rexdairtontrolled
substance under 21 C.F.R. § 1308.35 becausasintended for human consumptiorsee21
C.F.R.8 1308.35(a) (exempting certaiannabidhased products frothe CSA so long as they are
not intended for human consumption).

The problem with Plaintiffs’ argument is that it runs headlong int¢idgm@pcasesywhere
the Ninth Circuit invalidated the very regulations on which Plaintiffs r8geHemp Il 357 F.3d
at 1019 (permanently enjoining enforcement of the regulations). The court statedncertain
terms that those regulationsay not be enforced with respect to THC that is found within the
parts ofCannabisplants that are excluded from tB@&A's definition of marijuana or that is not

synthetic? Id. at 1018. Accordingly, the mere presencerwturally occurringfHC in a product

does not render it a controlled substance so long as it is derived from an excepted part of the



Cannabis sativgplant. See id.at 101819. Therefore,the Court denie®laintiffs’ motion for
reconsideration

Defendants’ argument is persuasive, however. Defendants clarify that speyethat
Dixie X contains a resin extracted framaturehempstalk. They submit the affidavit dbtuart
Titus, CEO of Medical Marijuana, Incwho avers that the CBD extraatas not produced from
the resin of any mature stalks. ECF No. 97-2 at 2.

Despite having an opportunity to do so, Plaintiffs dopnoffer any evidence show that
Dixie X containssynthetic THC or is derived from reon-excepted parof the Cannabis sativa
plant. Instead Plaintiffs proffer supplemental affidagiof Kenneth D. Graham, their toxicology
expert, whomerelyreiterates his opinions about tlegality of hempbased productsSeeECF
Nos. 1121, 120. Those affidavits fail to create a genuine issue of material §&&.SLSJ, LLC v.
Kleban 277 F. Supp. 3d 258, 268 (D. Conn. 2017) (“As a general rule an expert’s testimony on
issues of law is inadmissible.”).

Accordingly, kecause Plaintiffs have not presented any evidence to show that Dixie X
containseither synthetic THC or natural THC derived from marijuasagthe CSA defineshat
term—Plaintiffs cannot prove their RICO claim to the extent it is premised on thetailegjzat
Dixie X is a controlled substanceSee Horn 383 F. Supp. 3d at 132 (discussing RICO
standards).

Nevertheless, the Court disagsewith Defendantsthat the RICO claim should be
dismissed.Plaintiffs premise their RICO claim not only @efendants’ alleged distribution of a

controlled substance, but also on Defendants’ alleged mail and wire*fidee=CF No. 1 afl0-

3 Initially, Plaintiffs also alleged that Defendants violated 18 U.S.C. § 196 7héydid not present that
theoryin their summary judgment material€ompareECF No. 1 at 11with ECF No. 6025, and ECF
No. 6926. Accordingly,that theory has been abandon&ke Camarda v. Seloy&73 F. App’x 26, 30
(2d Cir. 2016) (summary order).



11;ECF No. 2 at 4. Because the Court concluded that the RICO claim survived summary judgment
on the controllegsubstance theory, greviouslydeclined to address whether “Defendants also
engaged in other predicate acts of racketeering, including mail aadraud.” Horn, 383 F.

Supp. 3d at 132 n.11. The Court must now address those tssues.

Plaintiffs bring their RICO claim under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d)ich “makes it unlawful
for any person employed by or associated with any enterprise engaggtié activities of which
affect, interstate or foreign commerce, to conduct or participate, Idi@cindirectly, in the
conduct of such enterpriseaffairs through a pattern of racketeering activityérri v. Berkowitz
678 F. Supp. 2d 66, 723 (E.D.N.Y. 2009) (internal quotation marks omittefjo establish a
civil RICO claim. . .a plaintiff must allege (1) conduct, (2) of an enterprise, (3) through arpatte
(4) of racketeering activity, as well as injury to business or pro@ertg result ofhie RICO
violation.” Flexborrow LLC v. TD Auto Fin. LLC255 F. Supp. 3d 406, 414 (E.D.N.Y. 2017)
(internal quotation marks omitted).

“The pattern of racketeering activity must consist of two or more predicaseoéct
racketeering,id., which must be “related” and must “pose a threat of continued criminal activity.
DeFalco v. Bernas244 F.3d 286, 320 (2d Cir. 200Wail and wire fraud constitute racketeering
activity. 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1Bj. “The mail and wire fraud statutes prohibit the use ofehos
means of communication in furtherance'afy scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining
money or property by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, segiroldeal
Steel Supply Corp. v. AnZ2v3 F.3d 251, 256 (2d Cir. 2004@y’d in part and vacated in part on
other grounds by Anza v. Ideal Steel Supply C&7 U.S. 451 (2006)False advertising can

constitute mail or wire fraudSee, e.g4 K & D Corp. v. Concierge Auctions, L|.€ F. Supp. 3d

4 The Court confines its analysisttiosearguments thahe partiesaisel in their summaryadgment and
reconsideration briefing.



525, 539 (S.D.N.Y. 2014)allegedly false marketing materials could constitute predicate
racketeering activities based on mail and wire fraud statidesyonds Plus, Inc. v. Kolbe®60
F.2d 765 (& Cir. 1992) predicate acts of mail and wiiraud existed for civil RICO claim, where
defendant falsely advertised his ability to provide commercial financing$pective customeys
United States v. Andreadi366 F.2d 4282d Cir. 1966) (affirming mail and wire fraud convictions
of defendant who fraudulently marketed “miracle weigdttucing drug”)

The threat of continued criminal activity can be “closedled” or “operended.” Reich v.
Lopez 858 F.3d 55, 60 (2d Cir. 2017)Ctiminal activity that occurred over a long period of time
in the past has closeshded continuity, regardless of whether it may extend into the fuige.
such, closegended continuity isprimarily a temporal conceptand it requires that the guticate
crimes extendover a substantial period of tinfe.ld. (internal citations omitted). “[T]his Circuit
generally requires that the crimes extend over at least two yedrs.”

Openended continuity requires “criminal activity that by its najngects into the future
with a threat of repetition.”ld. (internal quotation marks omittedySome crimes may by their
very nature include a future threat, such as in a protection radket:"\When the business of an
enterprise is primarily unlawful, the continuity of the enterprise itseliept® criminal activity
into the future. And similarly, criminal activity is continuous when the predicate acts were the
regular way of operating that business, even if the business itsetharity lawful.” 1d. (internal
guotation marks and citations omitted).

For substantially the same reasons that Douglas Hémaglulent inducement claim
survived summary judgment, the Court concludes that Douglas Horn may proceed RitG®is
claimbased on piicate acts omail and wire fraud See Horn383 F. Supp. 3d at 1Z8L. There

is evidence that Defendants advertisedat least three different mediaon their website, in



YouTube videos, and via their customer service representatihes Dixie X did not contain
THC. See idat 12930. There is evidence that these statements were falseed, Defendants’
own testing revealed that the product contained detectible amounts of TdH@t"129. Because
Defendants tested Dixie X and found that it contained THC, yet advertised tontnaryg, there

is a basis to concludbat these staments were not mere misstatements or puffery, but part of a
scheme to defraudFurthermoreas the Court previously reasoned, Defendants had a motive to
defraud consumers: “[gliry could reasonably conclude that, to sell their products, Defendants
needé to distinguish Dixie X from its unlawful counterparts; misrepresenting the Td@iat in

the product would go a long way to dispelling consuhmasacerns, as it did in Plaintiffease€.

Id. at 130.

In addition, these predicate acts are related and meet the test fezrmmehcontinuity.
Although the racketeering activity occurred during a circumscribed amefrin 2012, there is
sufficient evidence to conclude that Defendants’ alleged acts of mail and auadbwere “the
regular way of operatinfhe] businesseven though the businegself was*“primarily lawful.”

Reich 858 F.3d at 60This is not a case wheeedefendant’schemeargets a particular victim
sets a specific goaby is otherwise “inherently terminableCofacredit, S.A. v. Windsor Plumbing
Supply Co., In¢.187 F.3d 229, 244 (2d Cir. 1998ge also Howard v. America Online In208

F.3d 741, 750 gh Cir. 2000) (no threat otontinuing criminal activity where misleading
advertisingstemmed from “ond¢ime change in pricing policy”). Rather, Defendantalsely
advertised Dixie X through a variety of media, targeting consumers n#jiodieir claim that

that Dixie X contained no THC was not eof promotional puffery; it was fundamentakelling

point of the product.In other words, Defendants’ false pitch about Dixie X could reasonably be

viewed agheir regular way of advertising, promoting, and selling the productland was no



“obvious ending point” to that schem@lkhaib v. N.Y. Motor Grp. LLCNo.CV-13-2337 2015

WL 3507340, at *21 (E.D.N.Y. June 3, 2019he fact that Defendants later updated their website
to reflect Dixie X’s THC content does not undermine this conclusidms is because “[w]hether
predicate acts pose a threat of future conduct is evaluated as of the time the acts @teccbmm
Id. at *20.

Accordingly, Defendants are not entitled to summary judgment on Douglas Horn’s RICO
claim® But for the same reasons set forth in the prior ofdeuglas Horn isisonot entitled to
summary judgment on the RICO claim, abdfendants are entitled to summary judgment on
Cindy HarpHorn’s RICO claim.See Horn383 F. Supp. 3d at 133.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed abdvefendants’ motions for reconsideration (ECF Nos. 97,
106) are GRANTED IN PART and DENIED IN PART, and Plaintiffs’ cresstion for
reconsideration (ECF No. 112) is DENIED. The Court’s prior order is modifsadar aouglas
Horn maynow proceed with his RICO clairanly to the extent it is premised g@nedicate acts of
wire and mail fraud He may not proceed with his claim on the theory that Dixie X is a controlled
substance By separate order, the Court will schedule a status conference to heandrparties
on the progress of this action.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated:November 21, 2019
Rochester, New York jf Q

. FRANK P. GERACI, JR.
C ie fJudge
United States District Court

5> As the Court previously noted, Defendants are not precluded from raising issugsenttiaation and
hearsayn their prerial motions See Horn383 F. Supp. 3d at 1310 the extent Defendants prevail on
their arguments, the Court may revisit whetherRHeO claimmay proceed to trialld.
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